

# Chronic unfairness

Equal treatment for addiction medicines?

April 2015



Penington Institute, a not-for-profit organisation, advances health and community safety by connecting substance use research to practical action. We support individuals and the wider community through research analysis, promotion of effective strategies, workforce education and public awareness activities. Penington Institute first formed two decades ago as Anex (now a program of Penington Institute) — a network of service providers to prevent HIV/AIDS transmission related to unsafe injecting drug use. Since then, we have been responding to the emerging evidence-base and practice wisdom in the field of public health.

For more information, contact:

Penington Institute 95 Drummond Street Carlton Vic 3053 T: 61 3 9650 0699 F: 61 3 9650 1600 www.penington.org.au

#### Writing and Editing

John Ryan, Nicola Thomson, Peter Muhleisen, Patrick Griffiths

Every effort has been made to present all information accurately. Penington Institute accepts no liability for and does not indemnify against any loss or damage that may result from any actions taken based on the information contained in this report.

Copyright © 2015 Penington Institute



This project is assisted by support from the Reichstein Foundation, <u>www.reichstein.org.au</u>



#### CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	4
2.	OPIOID USE	4
3.	WHAT IS OPIOID MAINTENANCE THERAPY?	5
4.	EFFECTIVENESS OF OMT	6
5.	AUSTRALIAN POLICY	6
6.	MODELS OF OMT PROVISION IN AUSTRALIA	7
7.	WHAT ARE OMT CO-PAYMENTS?	8
8.	THE IMPACT OF OMT CO-PAYMENTS	9
9.	BUDGETING ON OMT	10
10.	OMT AND PHARMACEUTICAL OPIOIDS	11
11.	COST-BENEFIT TO SUBSIDISING OMT CO-PAYMENTS	12
12.	EVIDENCE FOR PROVIDING OMT CO-PAYMENT RELIEF	12
13.	A CUT-THROUGH SOLUTION TO CO-PAYMENTS	14
14.	FINDING AN EQUITABLE SOLUTION	15
15.	REFERENCES	17



#### 1. Introduction

Opioid Maintenance Therapy (OMT) is an effective treatment for opioid addiction. In Australia the main forms of OMT are methadone and buprenorphine. OMT provides a regular, consistent and long-acting opioid dose that allows people the opportunity to regain control of their lives. A long-term OMT program enables individuals to improve their physical and mental health, resume employment and/or education and strengthen their relationships with family, friends and the wider community. It also greatly reduces people's risk of fatal overdose, which kills more Australians each year than car accidents.

Better access to OMT will help address growing rates of prescription opioid misuse and overdose. Under the present system, it is cheaper and easier to procure prescription opioids than OMT. Ensuring OMT is affordable is an important strategy to help stem prescription opioid as well as heroin addiction.

This paper focuses on one major impediment to enabling more Australians to access medication-assisted treatment: the requirement that people on OMT pay a fee for each dose they receive, rather than a flat fee per script. These daily OMT fees are described in this paper as co-payments, and they are severely compromising the public health and community benefits of an exceptional form of drug addiction treatment. The effectiveness of OMT is dependent on people staying in treatment and co-payments are the main reason people drop out of treatment – often resuming illicit drug use and criminal activity. Crime related to drug misuse is estimated to cost \$3, 161 million per year in Australia.

Reform is needed to ensure better access to OMT. Co-payment relief must be provided to patients through the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) to ensure a coordinated, national approach. This will increase patient retention and uptake of OMT across Australia, resulting in better individual outcomes for illicit opioid users and reduced drug-related health and crime costs to the community.

#### 2. Opioid use

The illicit use of opioids such as heroin, and pharmaceutical opioids such as morphine and oxycodone, is a serious health and social problem. Opioid users are more likely to experience mental and physical health problems, social and economic disadvantage, and poorer levels of overall well-being (Ross, Teeson et al., 2005; Dietze, Stoové et al., 2010). People who inject these drugs are at high risk from blood borne viruses such as hepatitis C and HIV/AIDS (Mathers, Degenhardt et al., 2008; Nelson, Mathers et al., 2011) and are at increased risk of



mortality, primarily from overdose (Degenhardt, Bucello et al., 2010; Degenhardt, Whiteford et al., 2013; Pierce, Bird et al., 2015).

Opioid addiction imposes a significant health and economic burden on the wider community, resulting in substantial costs to treatment and prevention services, as well as health care more generally (Collins & Lapsley, 2008; Ruetsch, 2010). Misuse of these drugs is associated with costs to the community, such as productivity loss in the workplace, organised and other crime, and social welfare expenditure (Hall, Doran et al., 2006; Ruetsch, 2010). There are also social costs associated with opioid addiction. These include poverty, family disruption, harm to the welfare of children, and contact with the justice and corrections system (Hall, Lynskey et al., 1999; Horyniak, Higgs et al., 2013).

Not all people who inject opioids are addicted to these drugs. Nor do they necessarily need or want treatment (Dean, Saunders et al., 2011). However, for those who do seek treatment, OMT is an effective strategy that enables them to reduce or cease their drug use (Mattick, Breen et al., 2009; Mattick, Breen et al., 2014). Ensuring that people who inject opioids have good access to quality OMT, benefits the individual and the wider community.

#### 3. What is Opioid Maintenance Therapy?

OMT is the long-term provision of medication for the treatment of opioid addiction. There are two medications legally able to be used in Australia for OMT. These are methadone and buprenorphine (which is increasingly used as a naloxone combination called Suboxone<sup>®</sup>). A number of other countries have used other replacement medications for OMT, including heroin.

These medications stimulate opioid receptors in the brain and, at optimised doses, ameliorate opioid withdrawal symptoms without causing intoxication. Methadone and buprenorphine are particularly effective because they are long acting and can be administered orally, reducing the risks of injecting. They may also block the effects of other opioids which can reduce the incentive to continue opioid abuse. Due to their effectiveness in addressing illicit opioid use, both methadone and buprenorphine are listed by the World Health Organisation (WHO) as essential medicines (WHO Expert Committee on the Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2006).

OMT medications are potent and can cause overdose and death if inappropriately used (Bell, Butler et al., 2009). Because of this, these medications are mostly dispensed in a supervised environment where people on OMT must consume their methadone or buprenorphine in full view of a pharmacist. This is the main way of controlling administration of these drugs in order to reduce the chances of misuse or diversion to the illicit market and risks to consumers and the wider community. Some OMT clients receive a number of 'takeaway' doses a week. These can be taken home and consumed without supervision. Takeaway doses are very important



because they provide clients with some degree of flexibility which can help with paid and unpaid work, education and training, and parenting (Fraser, Valentine et al., 2007).

## 4. Effectiveness of OMT

OMT is an effective treatment for opioid addiction improving the mental, physical and social health of patients (Gossop, Marsden et al., 2003; Maremmani, Pani et al., 2007; Lawrinson, Ali et al., 2008; Teesson, Mills et al., 2008). OMT patients substantially decrease their use of heroin and other opioids, reduce their risk of mortality and morbidity and reduce the transmission risks of injection-related disease such as HIV/AIDS and hepatitis, and are able to increase participation in employment, parenting and community responsibilities (Cornish, Macleod et al., 2010; Grönbladh, Öhlund et al., 1990; Hser, Hoffman et al., 2001; Mattick, Breen et al., 2014; Ritter & Chalmers, 2009; Teesson et al., 2008; Turner, Hutchinson et al., 2011; Ward, Mattick et al., 1998).

Participation in OMT is associated with reduced involvement in property crime and non-violent forms of criminal activity as well as violent crime (Bukten, Skurtveit et al., 2012; Gossop, Trakada et al., 2005; Hall, 1996; Havenes et al., 2012; Teesson et al., 2008).

By removing the drivers for much of the problematic behaviour associated with opioid addiction, OMT can provide people with an opportunity to make sustainable changes in their lives. In this way, OMT is an effective support to other therapeutic approaches (including withdrawal, counselling and rehabilitation) as it promotes the achievement of goals that are indicative of sustained change. For these reasons, it is a prime example of an addiction intervention that also enhances the prospects of long-term recovery.

Access to, and retention in, OMT is essential to successful treatment. OMT is most effective when patients remain in treatment for at least 12 months (Ward et al., 1998). Most available evidence suggests the majority of people leaving treatment will resume drug use (Ward et al., 1998; Winstock, Lintzeris et al., 2011). This research illustrates how important it is that issues such as co-payments do not impact on people's ability to access and stay on OMT.

## 5. Australian policy

OMT is an important, evidence-based strategy in Australia's overall response to drug use. Historically, the large-scale rollout of methadone maintenance, combined with other harm reduction interventions, has meant that the high prevalence of HIV/AIDS seen overseas has been avoided in Australia (Fitzgerald & Sewards, 2002; Mathers, Degenhardt et al., 2008).

National policy on opioid pharmacotherapies is clear on the goal of OMT:



The broad goal of treatment for opioid dependence is to reduce the health, social and economic harms to individuals and the community arising from illicit opioid use (Intergovernmental Committee on Drugs, 2007).

This policy outlines the objectives of treatment and is explicit that retention in OMT is integral to success:

The objectives of pharmacotherapy are to:

- bring to an end or significantly reduce an individual's illicit opioid use
- reduce the risk of overdose
- reduce the transmission of blood borne diseases
- improve general health and social functioning, including a reduction in crime

These objectives are achieved by engaging and retaining people dependent on opioids in treatment (Intergovernmental Committee on Drugs, 2007).

There is a relatively stable population of around 47,500 OMT patients in Australia (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2013a). This number has increased by less than 1% per year since 2010 after a period of rapid growth since 1998 (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2013a). Yet, while a sizable number of people access this treatment, they face ongoing issues that can jeopardise the effectiveness of OMT. Of these issues, co-payments stand out as a problem that should be dealt with to ensure better outcomes (Kellsal, King et al., 2014). Addressing this issue is paramount if people using illicit opioids and the wider Australian community are to gain maximum benefit from the medical treatment of addiction.

#### 6. Models of OMT provision in Australia

OMT is provided in four main ways in Australia. These are:

- State and territory-funded specialist clinics. These are services for clients with extremely high needs. Specialist clinics provide adjunct services such as case management. OMT is provided at very low or no cost to the patient.
- Community-based services. These include community pharmacists and General Practitioners (GPs). These services are intended to provide services for 'stable' OMT patients. Adjunct services in this model are not necessarily provided. Patients pay anywhere from \$1 to \$10 per day for OMT.
- Private services. These are mostly found in New South Wales. Similar to communitybased provision they do not provide adjunct services. They are sometimes more expensive at around \$10 per day to the patient.
- Correctional-based services. OMT is provided in most states to inmates at no cost. Depending on the jurisdiction, people may continue their OMT program or begin OMT



once incarcerated (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2013a; Ritter & Chalmers, 2009; Ritter & Lintzeris, 2004).

Australian jurisdictions have enlisted the support of generalist health providers such as GPs and pharmacists to provide the great bulk of OMT. In 2013, 82% of OMT prescribers were in private practice and 88% of dosing points were in community pharmacies (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2013a). This model of provision requires patients to register with an authorised GP to prescribe their medication, and with a single pharmacy to provide supervised doses and takeaway doses. The pharmacist's role includes monitoring the patient's ongoing condition and alerting the prescriber of any problems.

The benefits of delivering OMT through community services rather than specialist treatment centres (or private clinics) are argued to be:

- an increase in the availability and accessibility of treatment including in regional and rural areas
- the normalisation of drug treatment as a general health concern
- that consumers feel less stigmatised attending a primary health care setting rather than a specialist program for treatment
- savings to state government expenditure as the cost shifts to patients and the Australian government (Lintzeris, Koutroulis et al., 1996; Ritter & Chalmers, 2007; Treloar, Fraser et al., 2007; Winstock, Lea et al., 2010)

The last point is an important one, as the cost-effectiveness of the community-based OMT model has allowed its expansion in order to respond to the demand for treatment. Yet, while the cost to government is low compared to other forms of drug treatment (Doran, 2007), OMT patients must carry the costs to pharmacists through program fees. Pharmacies are commercial enterprises. For these businesses to continue to provide OMT, it must remain financially viable.

## 7. What are OMT co-payments?

OMT co-payments are an ongoing issue for both OMT patients and their pharmacists (Fraser et al., 2007; Ritter & Chalmers, 2007; Shepard, Perrella et al., 2014). While consumers are usually bulkbilled through Medicare for visits to their GP, they are charged a program/dispensing fee by their pharmacist. This co-payment varies, and can range from \$1 to \$10 daily, but has remained relatively stable for the past twenty years. For example, an OMT patient's co-payment per dose might be \$5, regardless of whether or not the person has takeaway doses (hence making fewer visits to pharmacy) or attends the pharmacy each day. The weekly co-payment cost to patients paying \$5 per day would typically be \$35, whether they received takeaways or not.

Pharmacists in most states receive no other payment for the provision of OMT, although there is a subsidy scheme in Tasmania and the Australian Capital Territory and an inducement



scheme in New South Wales. Evidence suggests that consumer co-payments do not cover the costs of OMT provision (Feyer et al., 2008). However, co-payments have remained relatively stable, presumably because of the struggle consumers have paying these fees.

OMT co-payments are charged to incorporate:

- the pharmacist's time (they are required to prepare and provide the consumer's dose, and complete all paper work)
- consumables (cups, bottles, labels and cordial in some states)
- general business costs

Fees tend to be higher when OMT is provided through private clinics (mostly NSW) where OMT is their sole business.

Public clinics might also charge dispensing fees, however, these are heavily or completely subsidised by the relevant state/territory government. These clinics tend to only treat patients for a limited time before they are referred to a GP and community pharmacy. Some patients may remain at these clinics for longer if they are considered unstable or complex to a degree that would make attending a community pharmacy an unviable option. Public clinics invariably have long waiting lists and usually equate the stability required for takeaway doses with the stability to dose at a pharmacy. Thus, while being affordable, public clinics provide very limited flexibility to people, impacting on their ability to gain employment, undertake study and engage in other meaningful activities.

There is some argument that the time involved in supervised dispensing should be reflected in co-payments (Winstock et al., 2007). For instance, people on Suboxone® may be entitled to a greater number of takeaway doses, but they are not usually charged less (Winstock et al., 2007). However, as outlined above, program fees are not solely related to the cost of supervised dosing. Paperwork for OMT is similar, regardless of the way the medication is provided. Additionally, providing Suboxone® at a cheaper rate does not address the issue of co-payments in an equitable and sustainable way. It may also make the decision between buprenorphine and methadone financially driven, rather than determined on the basis of what is best for the individual patient.

#### 8. The impact of OMT co-payments

The impact of OMT co-payments on patients is profound, potentially jeopardising treatment continuity and their therapeutic relationship with their pharmacists. The cost of treatment is critical to patient satisfaction and retention in the program (Booth, Corsi et al., 2004; Winstock et al., 2007; Lintzeris et al., 1996). According to reports from advice and dispute resolution services for OMT patients, payment issues related to co-payments are the most common issue of concern, with up to 80% of patients contacting services for this reason (Rossmanith, 2011).



Research with 120 OMT patients in Victoria (Rowe, 2008) found that many faced hardship with fees and this led to adverse outcomes. Some of the key findings of the report were that:

- people on OMT often prioritise the payment of dispensing fees over basic necessities, including food and accommodation
- OMT patients on low incomes are compelled to rely on emergency relief services to meet food and accommodation needs
- a significant minority of consumers engage in crime to meet co-payments
- co-payments often contribute to a deterioration in the relationship between dispensing pharmacist and patient
- the accumulation of debt through the inability to pay dispensing fees is a primary reason for the involuntary discontinuance of treatment
- co-payments are the single greatest obstacle to retention in OMT
- the withholding of OMT encourages illicit heroin and/or other opioid use
- involuntary discontinuance of treatment is invariably followed by a return to problematic heroin use (Rowe, 2008, p.1)

This body of evidence clearly shows the detrimental impact that OMT co-payments have on consumers and how these fees can contribute to the experience of economic hardship and continuing engagement in criminal activity.

Co-payments also have a significant impact on pharmacies and their provision of OMT. A study with 669 pharmacies in New South Wales and Victoria found that only a third of pharmacies reported all clients were up to date with their co-payments (Winstock et al., 2010). It has been suggested that these fees impact on the willingness of pharmacists to provide OMT. That is, if clients were not struggling to pay fees, more pharmacists would be attracted to the program, thus providing better coverage of this much-needed form of treatment (Feyer et al., 2008).

## 9. Budgeting on OMT

As noted previously, OMT co-payments vary. Generally, however, these fees are around \$30.00 to \$40.00 per week, but can be as much as \$70 per week. Most OMT consumers are on low incomes, with many are in receipt of government benefits such as the Disability Support Pension (DSP) or Newstart (Chalmers & Ritter, 2012; Rowe, 2008). The maximum amount a single person can receive on DSP is \$782.20 per fortnight, dropping to \$589.60 each or \$1,179.20 combined for couples on DSP. Newstart is \$519.20 per fortnight. This drops to \$468.80 per couple per fortnight if individuals are partnered with another Newstart recipient. Once \$70.00 for two weeks of program fees is taken into account, the DSP reduces to \$712.20 per fortnight and Newstart reduces to \$449.20. Program fees are about 9% of a single person's total income on the DSP and 13% of their income on Newstart. Research shows that people living on benefits such as DSP and Newstart are struggling to afford the basics such as rent and



food (Australian Council of Social Services, 2012). If people have children there are far higher additional costs.

By requiring OMT consumers to pay daily dispensing fees to access their medication, we are adding to the extreme financial stress they already experience. This stress is counterproductive to the goals and benefits of OMT, including being able to parent and being an active member of the community. By keeping OMT consumers in a poverty trap we also increase their marginalisation. People on OMT face stigmatisation because of their drug use, and poverty adds to this stigma (Fraser et al., 2007).

Despite the known public health benefits of OMT, there is no systematic financial support for OMT patients experiencing difficulty paying for their medication. This places them in a unique position.

Other Australian health consumers who receive medication for chronic and/or lifestyle related illnesses such as diabetes, smoking-related illness and hypercholesterolemia are not required to pay for their medication to be dispensed (Shepard et al., 2014). Nor are recipients of opioid medication such as Oxycontin® and MS Contin®. Whereas a person receiving a month's dosage of prednisolone (an oral steroid for smoking-related illness) may pay less than \$6 if they have a Health Care Card (HCC), OMT patients may pay more than \$150 for a month's provision of medication.

The business costs of dispensing OMT are argued to be greater than the cost of dispensing medications for other chronic conditions, yet the fact remains that, unlike other patients, people on OMT pay a very high cost for their medication. This situation is discriminatory and inequitable.

#### 10. OMT and pharmaceutical opioids

The misuse of pharmaceutical opioids is a growing problem in Australia and is associated with severe harms such as addiction and overdose (Australian Health and Welfare Institute, 2013b; Roxburgh, Ritter, Slade, & Burns, 2014). Better access to OMT could address the misuse of these drugs. The cost of oxycodone can be as low as \$6 a month, and a person receiving such opioid pharmaceuticals do not have to attend a pharmacy each day. On the other hand, OMT dispensing fees are around 25 times more expensive than prescription opioids. These cost inequities make it difficult to move people who are abusing drugs such as MS Contin® and Oxycontin® onto a treatment program. Yet, people on a supervised regime of OMT will achieve better outcomes than those receiving opioid medications in unsupervised circumstances where these drugs may be traded, trafficked and injected.

Increasing numbers of pharmaceutically-dependent people are being treated by OMT (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2013a; Ritter & Chalmers, 2009). Early research



finds that OMT is a promising treatment for opioid pharmaceutical dependence, with most people appearing to successfully stabilise in treatment (Nielsen, Muhleisen et al., 2013).

## 11. Cost-benefit to subsidising OMT co-payments

With increasing health care costs and limited resources, government and policy makers require cost-effective solutions to issues such as opioid addiction. Shifting the cost of OMT dispensing to consumers through co-payments appears to reduce cost to government. However, if people cannot stay on OMT because of these fees, there are far greater costs to the community (Collins & Lapsley, 2008).

It makes economic sense for government to address the issue of OMT co-payments. Australian researchers developed a system dynamics model of OMT to explore some of the key issues of concern, including affordability (Chalmers & Ritter, 2012). The resulting modelling found that the overall cost for the provision of OMT is almost \$11.73 million per month. Of this total, 43% is borne by state and territory governments, 33% by patients, and the remaining 24% by the Australian Government.

The cost to the community related to untreated heroin use for the same period of time was estimated to be between \$15.8 million and \$31.6 million per month, significantly higher than \$11.73 million. The 'cost burden' of ongoing heroin use includes:

- health care costs (blood borne viruses, accidents, trauma, overdose)
- crime (associated with heroin)
- family disruption, domestic violence, impact on children

It should be noted that this research did not examine the cost of untreated opioid pharmaceutical addiction. Based on their heroin-only data, the researchers concluded that if the Australian Government was to pay all program fees (estimated at around \$4 million per month) this cost would be outweighed by the economic benefits accruing to the community through social and health benefits, such as reductions in health care utilisation and crime (Chalmers & Ritter, 2012). The researchers also take into account that, if OMT co-payments were subsidised, increasing people would take up OMT. Thus, with increasing numbers of OMT patients, the total of a full fee subsidy would increase yearly government expenditure by \$81.8 million to \$175.8 million (Chalmers & Ritter, 2012).

#### 12. Evidence for providing OMT co-payment relief

There is strong evidence that providing OMT co-payment relief to patients will improve program continuity and their relationship with their pharmacist, with a number of studies evaluating fee-subsidy models.



Australian research found that affordability had an impact on treatment by comparing a subsidised group of patients (at a flat rate of \$15 per week) to an unsubsidised group (Feyer et al., 2008). Higher cost was associated with significantly poorer adherence to treatment. Other key findings were that:

- affordability was a significant determinant of treatment outcome. A subsidised arrangement as part of a national funding model may lead to better compliance and treatment outcomes
- any patient subsidy would need to take into account the real financial impact given the variability of co-payments
- there is a case for means testing of a co-payment subsidy
- co-payments greater than \$29.80 are associated with increased risk of being unable to maintain treatment (Feyer et al., 2008)

This study also investigated the option of directly subsidising pharmacies. It was recommended that incentives be provided to pharmacies to improve their satisfaction and maintain their involvement in the program, as well as to attract new pharmacists.

Another Australian study trialled three different models of dispensing fee assistance (Healthcare Management Advisors, 2007). These models were two partial OMT co-payment subsidies and a full co-payment subsidy. The findings of this research included that:

- OMT patients and pharmacists reported being satisfied with the trial funding models
- there were no statistically significant differences in satisfaction between the three funding models
- pharmacists reported that the funding models trialled had a strong positive impact on service delivery. This was mainly related to improved relationships with patients due to reduced concerns about money and chasing of bad debts
- OMT patients expressed satisfaction with the trial arrangements, with 91.4% stating that treatment arrangements were better during the trial than before (Healthcare Management Advisors, 2007)

More recently, an Australian study found that the main reason people dropped out of OMT was the cost of co-payments. People in this study reported high levels of personal debt — an issue which is linked to adverse health outcomes (Shepard et al., 2014).

The evidence shows that providing OMT co-payment assistance will enhance OMT outcomes. With co-payment subsidies, patients have better retention on OMT and a more productive relationship with their pharmacist. Further, if pharmacists do not have to deal with people struggling to pay fees they may be more likely to provide OMT, thus enhancing treatment coverage and accessibility.



#### 13. A cut-through solution to co-payments

Medications such as methadone and buprenorphine are provided through the PBS. They are listed as 'Section 100' drugs, meaning that they are part of the 'highly specialised drugs program'. To bring methadone and buprenorphine into line with other long-term medications, the conditions of their listing as a S100 must be changed to ensure that people on OMT are not paying uniquely high costs to receive their medication.

We propose that methadone and buprenorphine (when used specifically for OMT) remain as S100 drugs, but with different provisions for supply. These new provisions would be to:

- pay pharmacists a monthly fee per patient to cover the recording/dispensing fee, handling fee, counselling and pharmaceutical care
- require a monthly patient contribution. This would be \$6.00 per months for those with a HCC and \$36.90 for those without. This is in line with other PBS medications where the consumer pays a fee each time a prescription is filled

To price this model we have assumed the value of providing buprenorphine is \$9.47 per day and methadone is \$11.51. These amounts are calculated from the PBS fee paid to pharmacists, as of September 2014, for dispensing a drug of addiction (other than OMT medication) (Newton, 2014).

#### MODEL SUMMARY

Real cost of providing buprenorphine for one month <sup>1</sup> at \$9.47 per day	\$284.10	
Real cost of providing methadone for one month at \$11.51 per day	\$345.30	
Cost of subsidising buprenorphine for one month:		
Co-payment subsidy less HCC patient contribution (\$6.10)	\$278.00	
Co-payment subsidy less non-HCC patient contribution (\$37.70)	\$246.40	
Cost of subsidising methadone for one month:		
Co-payment subsidy less HCC patient contribution (\$6.10)	\$339.20	
Co-payment subsidy less non-HCC patient contribution (\$37.70)	\$307.60	

Under this model patients pay, and OMT patients are charged \$6.00 per month (if they are HCC holders) and \$36.90 (if they are not HCC holders). The PBS, however, would subsidise HCC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> One month is 30 days as for most other PBS items.

Chronic unfairness: Equal treatment for addiction medicine



holders up to \$339.30 per month and non-HCC holders \$308.40 per month. The Medicare safety net would come into effect as it does with other health consumers.<sup>2</sup>

Currently, there are around 37,471 people receiving OMT through pharmacies or private clinics with around two thirds (24,981) receiving methadone and the remaining one third (12,490) on buprenorphine.

Based on current patient numbers this model would cost around \$12 million per month, with methadone costing around \$8.5 million and buprenorphine around \$3.5 million.

However, if this direct payment model were to be adopted, it would be reasonable to expect greater adherence and greater uptake of OMT treatment owing to the improvement in the program's affordability. Hence, the total cost of subsidising co-payments would also increase.

To put the cost of this proposal in perspective, consider the following typical scenario:

A person suffering type 2 diabetes may be regularly prescribed some form of insulin. Lantus SoloStar® is one such form of insulin, provided to patients under the PBS scheme as a Schedule 85 drug. The wholesale price of the drug is \$408.30 per prescription (usually 5 flexpens), and the cost to the PBS is approximately \$430.00 per prescription. Often, a person would require at least one prescription per month which, if they have a HCC, would cost them about \$70.00 per year — and would cost the PBS more than \$5000.00 per year. Overall, in 2010-2011 the cost to the PBS of Lantus SoloStar® amounted to more than \$109 million.

In comparison, a patient receiving OMT to treat and control their particular chronic disease is required to pay out more than \$1500.00 per year as their patient contribution.

The model outlined above is not the only option for addressing the issue of OMT co-payments. However, it is a potential cut-through solution that brings the provision of treatment to OMT clients in line with treatment for other chronic health care issues.

## 14. Finding an equitable solution

OMT is an especially cost-effective response to problematic opioid dependence. Other treatment options such as withdrawal, rapid detoxification or antagonist therapy are more expensive and have limited outcomes. OMT co-payments, however, are an ongoing problem, compromising outcomes. OMT patients are often on low incomes and the high cost of treatment contributes to their poverty, making it hard for them to make positive changes in their lives.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> We have costed PBS co-payments in this model at the current rate. Rates are adjusted each year.



Almost all pharmacies are commercial enterprises. They should not be expected to provide a service without payment. OMT programs require considerable paperwork and, unlike other medications for chronic conditions, patients are required to be supervised when dosed.

A subsidy scheme would reduce the financial burden on patients as well as make services more viable, therefore encouraging more providers to offer OMT. The costs of any subsidy scheme would be offset by a reduction in costs across the board for governments including justice and corrections, and health costs such as hospitals and mental health admissions.

OMT is an effective treatment that provides benefits to individuals, their families and the wider community. People on OMT should be provided the same access to medication as other Australians with chronic health issues.



#### 15. References

Australian Council of Social Service (2012). Poverty in Australia. New South Wales: ACOSS.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2013a). *National Opioid Pharmacotherapy Statistics 2013*. Drug Treatment Series No. 23. Cat. No. HSE 147. Canberra: AIHW.

1

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2013b). *National Strategy Household Survey: Detailed Report* 2013. Drug statistics series no. 28. Cat. no. PHE 183. Canberra: AIHW.

Bell, J. R., Butler, B., Lawrance, A., Baley, R. & Salmelainen, P. (2009). Comparing overdose mortality associated with methadone and buprenorphine treatment. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence 104*(1–2), 73-77.

Booth, R. E., Corsi, K, & Mikulich-Gilbertson, S. (2004). Factors associated with methadone maintenance treatment retention among street-recruited injection drug users. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence 74*(2), 177-185.

Bukten, A., Skurtveit, S., Gossop, M., Waal, H., Stangeland, P., Havnes, I., & Clausen, T. (2012). Engagement with opioid maintenance treatment and reductions in crime: A longitudinal national cohort study. *Addiction 107*(2), 393-399.

Chalmers, J. & Ritter, R. (2012). "Subsidising patient dispensing fees: The cost of injecting equity into the opioid pharmacotherapy maintenance system." <u>Drug and Alcohol Review</u> 31(7): 911-917.

Collins, D. J. & Lapsley, H. (2008). *The costs of tobacco, alcohol and illicit drug abuse to Australian society in 2004/05*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Cornish, R., Macleod, J. & Hickman, M. (2010). Risk of death during and after opiate substitution treatment in primary care: Prospective observational study in UK General Practice Research Database. *British Medical Journal 341*(c5475).

Dean, A., Saunders, J. & Bell, J. (2011). "Heroin use, dependence, and attitudes to treatment in non-treatment-seeking heroin users: A pilot study." <u>Substance Use and Misuse</u> 46(4): 417-425.

Degenhardt, L., Bucello, C., Mathers, B., Briegleb, C., Ali, A., Hickman, M., & McLaren, J. (2010). Mortality among regular or dependent users of heroin and other opioids: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Addiction 106*, 32-51.

Degenhardt, L., Whiteford, H., Ferrari, A., Baxter, A., Charlson, F., Hall, W., Freedman, G., Burstein, R., Johns, N., Engell, R., Flaxman, A., Murray, C. & Vos, T. (2013). Global burden of disease attributable to illicit drug use and dependence: Findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet (London, England) 382*(9904), 1564-1574.

Dietze, P., Stoové, M., Miller, P., Kinner, S.; Bruno, R., Alati, R. & Burns, L. (2010). The self-reported personal wellbeing of a sample of Australian injecting drug users. *Addiction 105*(12), 2141-2148.

Doran, C. (2007). *Economic Evaluation of Interventions for Illicit Opioid Dependence*. Geneva: World Health Organisation.



Duckett, S.J., Breadon, P., Ginnivan, L. and Venkataraman, P. (2013). *Australia's bad drug deal: high pharmaceutical prices*. Melbourne: Grattan Institute.

Ezard, N., Lintzeris, N. Odgers, P., Koutroulis, G., Muhleisen, P., & Lanagan, A. (1999). An evaluation of community methadone services in Victoria, Australia: Results of a client survey. *Drug and Alcohol Review 18*(4), 417-423.

Feyer, A. Mattick, R., Schulman, C., Jessop, R., Soloman, J. & Pyper, D. (2008). *A National Funding Model for Pharmacotherapy Dependence in Community Pharmacy*. Sydney, NSW: Department of Health and Ageing, The Pharmacy Guild of Australia, National Drug and Research Centre, Price Waterhouse Coopers.

Fitzgerald, J. & Sewards, T. (2002). *Drug Policy: The Australian Approach*. ANCD Research Paper 5. Canberra: Australian National Council on Drugs.

Fraser, S., Valentine, K., Treloar, C. & Macmillan, K. (2007). *Methadone maintenance treatment in NSW and Victoria: Takeaways, diversion and other key issues.* Sydney: National Centre in HIV Social Research, University of New South Wales.

Grönbladh, L., Öhlund, L. S., & Gunne, L. M. (1990). Mortality in heroin addiction: impact of methadone treatment. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 82*(3), 223-227.

Gossop, M., Marsden, J., Stewart, D., & Kidd, T. (2003). "The National Treatment Outcome Research Study (NTORS): 4–5 year follow-up results." <u>Addiction</u> 98(3): 291-303.

Gossop, M., Trakada, K., Stewart, D., & Witton, J. (2005). Reductions in criminal convictions after addiction treatment: 5-year follow-up. <u>Drug and Alcohol Dependence</u> 79(3): 295-302.

Hall, W. (1996). Methadone maintenance as a crime control measure. *Crime and Justice Bulletin*. No. 29. New South Wales Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research.

Hall, W., Doran, C. Degenhardt, L., & Shepard, D. (2006). Illicit opioid abuse. In *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries (2<sup>nd</sup> Edition)*. D. Jamison, J. Breman, A. Measham et al. (eds). New York: Oxford University Press, 907-932.

Hall, W., Lynskey, M., & Degenhardt, L. (1999). *Heroin use In Australia: Its impact on public health and public order*. Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales.

Havnes, I., Bukten, A., Gossop, M., Waal, H., Stangeland, P., & Clausen, T. (2012). Reductions in convictions for violent crime during opioid maintenance treatment: A longitudinal national cohort study. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 124*(3), 307-310.

Healthcare Management Advisors (2007). *Funding Model Options for Dispensing of Pharmacotherapies for Opioid Dependence in Community Pharmacy Final Report*. Victoria: HMA and The Pharmacy Guild of Australia.

Horyniak, D., Higgs, P., Jenkinson, R., Degenhardt, L., Stoove, M., Kerr, T., Hickman, M., Aitken, C., & Dietze, P. (2013). Establishing the Melbourne injecting drug user cohort study (MIX): Rationale, methods, and baseline and twelve-month follow-up results. *Harm Reduction Journal 10*(1). Retrieved from: www.harmreductionjournal.com/content/10/1/11



Hser, Y., Hoffman, V., Grella, C., & Anglin, M.(2001). A 33-year follow-up of narcotics addicts. *Archives of General Psychiatry 58*(5), 503-508.

Intergovernmental Committee on Drugs (2007). *National Pharmacotherapy Policy: For People Dependent on Opioids*. Canberra: Australian Federal Governmernt.

Kelsall, J., King, T., Kirwan, A., & Lord, S. (2014). *Opioid pharmacotherapy fees: A long-standing barrier to treatment entry and retention*. Policy Brief 8. Centre for Research Excellence into Injecting Drug Use. Retrieved from: creidu.edu.au/policy\_briefs\_and\_submissions/10-opioid-pharmacotherapy-fees-a-long-standing-barrier-to-treatment-entry-and-retention.

Lawrinson, P., Ali, R., Buavirat, A., Chiamwongpaet, S., Dvoryak, S., Habrat, B., Jie, S. Mardati, R. Mokri, A., Moskalewicz, J., Newcombe, D., Poznyack, V., Subata, E., Uchtenhagen, A., Utami, D., A. Vial, R. & Zhao, C. (2008). Key findings from the WHO collaborative study on substitution therapy for opioid dependence and HIV/AIDS. *Addiction 103*(9), 1484-1492.

Lintzeris, N., Koutroulis, G. Odgers P, Ezard N, Lanagan, A., Muhleisen, P., & Stowe, A. (1996). *Report on the Evaluation of Community Methadone Services in Victoria*. Melbourne: Turning Point Drug and Alcohol Centre.

Maremmani, I., Pani, P., Pacini, M., & Perugi, G. (2007). Substance use and quality of life over 12 months among buprenorphine maintenance-treated and methadone maintenance-treated heroin-addicted patients. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment 33*(1), 91-98.

Mathers, B., Degenhardt, L., Phillips, B., Wiessing, L., Hickman, M., Strathdee, S., Wodak, A., Panda, S., Tyndall, M., Toufik, A. & Mattick, R. (2008). Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: A systematic review. *Lancet (London, England) 372*(9651), 1733-1745.

Mattick, R., Breen, C., Kimber, J., Davoli, M. (2009). Methadone maintenance therapy versus no opioid replacement therapy for opioid dependence (Review), *The Cochrane Collaboration*. Retrieved from: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19588333.

Mattick, R., Kimber, J., Breen, C., Davoli, M. (2014). Buprenorphine maintenance versus placebo or methadone maintenance for opioid dependence (Review), *The Cochrane Collaboration*. Retrieved from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18425880.

Nelson, P., Mathers, B., Cowie, B., Hagan, H., Des Jarlais, D., Horyniak, D. & Degenhardt, L. (2011). Global epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in people who inject drugs: Results of systematic reviews. *Lancet (London, England) 378*(9791): 571-583.

Newton (2014), Personal communication, Irvine Newton, Pharmaceutical Society of Australia (Vic. Branch), 22 September, 2014.

Nielsen, S., Muhleisen, P., Murnion, B., Sadler, C., Ling, S., Smith, C., Demirkol, A., Dunlop, Degenhardt, L. & Lintzeris, N. (2013). Pharmaceutical opioid treatment presentations prescribed methadone or buprenorphine in three New South Wales local health district drug treatment services. *Drug and Alcohol Review 32* (Suppl. 1): 2–74.

Pierce, M., Bird, S. M., Hickman, M., & Millar, T. (2015). National record linkage study of mortality for a large cohort of opioid users ascertained by drug treatment or criminal justice sources in England, 2005 – 2009. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence,146*, 17-23.



Ritter, A. & Chalmers, J. (2009). *Polygon: The many sides to the Australian opioid pharmacotherapy maintenance system*. Research Paper no. 18. Canberra: Australian National Council on Drugs.

Ritter, A. & Lintzeris, N. (2004). Pharmacotherapy maintenance treatment. In *Drug Use in Australia: Preventing Harm*. M. Hamilton, T. King and A. Ritter (eds.). South Melbourne: Oxford University Press.

Roxburgh, A., Ritter, A., Slade, T. & Burns, L (2013). *Trends in Drug Use and Related Harms in Australia, 2001 to 2013*. Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales. Retreived from https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/sites/default/files/ndarc/resources/Australian%20Drug%20Trends%20200 1%20to%202013.pdf:

Ross, J., Teeson, M., Darke, S., Lynskey, M., Ali, R., Ritter, A. & Cooke, R. (2005). The characteristics of heroin users entering treatment: Findings from the Australian treatment outcome study (ATOS). *Drug and Alcohol Review 24*(5): 411-418.

Rossmanith, A. (2011). Fees for pharmacotherapy: An unfair burden? *Of Substance 9*(3): 10-13.

Rowe, J. (2008). *A Raw Deal*. Melbourne: RMIT University and the Salvation Army.

Ruetsch, C. J. (2010). Empirical view of opioid dependence. *Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy 16*(1, Suppl B): S9-13.

Shepherd, A., Perrella, B. & Hattingh, H. L. (2014). The impact of dispensing fees on compliance with opioid substitution therapy: A mixed methods study. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy 9*(32). Retrieved from: www.substanceabusepolicy.com/content/9/1/32.

Smith, R., Jorna, p., Sweeny, J. & Fuller, G. (2014) *Counting the costs of crime in Australia: A 2011 estimate.* Australian Institute of Criminology. Research and Public Policy Series. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology.

Teesson, M., Mills, K., Ross, J., Darke, S., Williamson, A., & Havard, A. (2008). The impact of treatment on 3 years' outcome for heroin dependence: Findings from the Australian Treatment Outcome Study (ATOS). *Addiction 103*(1), 80-88.

Turner, K., Hutchinson, S., Vickerman, P., Hope, V., Craine, N., Palmateer et al. (2011). The impact of needle and syringe provision and opiate substitution therapy on the incidence of hepatitis C virus in injecting drug users: Pooling of UK evidence. *Addiction 106*(11), 1978-1988.

Ward, J., Mattick, R. & Hall, W. (Eds.) (1998). *Methadone Maintenance Treatment and Other Opioid Replacement Therapies*. London: Harwood Academic Publishers.

WHO Expert Committee on the Selection and Use of Essential Medicines (2006). *The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines: Report of the WHO Expert Committee, 2005.* WHO Technical Report Series 933. Geneva, World Health Organisation.

Winstock, A., Lea, T. & Ritter, A. (2007). The impact of community pharmacy dispensing fees on the introduction of buprenorphine–naloxone in Australia." *Drug and Alcohol Review 26*(4), 411-416.

Winstock, A., Lea, T., & Sheridan, J. (2010). Problems experienced by community pharmacists delivering opioid substitution treatment in New South Wales and Victoria, Australia. *Addiction 105*(2), 335-342.



Winstock, A., Lintzeris, N., & Lea, T. (2011). 'Should I stay or should I go?' Coming off methadone and buprenorphine treatment. *International Journal of Drug Policy 22*(1), 77-81.